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SINGAPORE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES                      1
   
   
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 

 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group Notes (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Operating revenue 7,154.2    7,099.2    14,146.1  14,127.5  
Operating expenses 2 (5,416.8)   (5,381.6)   (10,588.9) (10,749.9) 
Other income 3 107.6       92.4         234.7       219.3       

1,845.0    1,810.0    3,791.9    3,596.9    

Depreciation and amortisation 4 (1,201.6)   (1,236.7)   (2,410.6)   (2,444.0)   

643.4       573.3       1,381.3    1,152.9    

Exceptional items 5 972.9       (2,442.4)   984.9       (1,250.3)   

Profit/(Loss) on operating activities 1,616.3    (1,869.1)   2,366.2    (97.4)        

Share of results of associates and
   joint ventures 6 1,726.0    685.5       2,569.6    1,361.5    

Net profit/(loss) before interest,
  investment income (net) and tax 3,342.3    (1,183.6)   4,935.8    1,264.1    

Interest and investment income (net) 7 40.0         56.9         102.9       141.3       
Finance costs 8 (207.2)      (231.4)      (445.4)      (444.2)      

Net profit/(loss) before tax 3,175.1    (1,358.1)   4,593.3    961.2       

Tax (expense)/credit 9 (385.1)      21.0         (564.9)      (157.7)      

Net profit/(loss) after tax 2,790.0    (1,337.1)   4,028.4    803.5       

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 2,785.8    (1,341.4)   4,017.4    795.0       
Non-controlling interests 4.2           4.3           11.0         8.5           

2,790.0    (1,337.1)   4,028.4    803.5       

Earnings per share attributable
  to shareholders of the Company
 - basic 11 16.88¢ (8.13¢) 24.34¢ 4.82¢
 - diluted 11 16.56¢ (8.14¢) 23.92¢ 4.75¢

Second Half
31 Mar

Year
31 Mar

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

 

Group 2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Net profit/(loss) after tax 2,790.0   (1,337.1)  4,028.4   803.5       

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently 
  to income statement:

  Exchange differences arising from translation 
    of foreign operations and other currency 
    translation differences (241.7)     (322.0)     (344.6)     (610.1)      

  Reclassification of translation loss to income
    statement on deconsolidation of subsidiaries -           29.8        -           29.8        

  Reclassification of translation loss to income
    statement on disposal/dilution of interest
    in associates/joint ventures 22.7        64.3        34.2       127.1       

  Cash flow hedges 
    - Fair value changes 274.2      (58.3)       (31.1)      22.9        
    - Tax effects (29.9)       2.8          (10.5)      (6.6)         

244.3      (55.5)       (41.6)      16.3        

     - Fair value changes transferred 
      to income statement (265.2)     30.5        (0.8)        (83.7)       

     - Tax effects 16.9        3.3          6.7         4.7          
(248.3)     33.8        5.9         (79.0)       

(4.0)         (21.7)       (35.7)      (62.7)       

  Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income
    of associates and joint ventures (3.5)         28.1        100.5      68.0        

  Reclassification of share of other comprehensive
    gain of associates/joint ventures to income statement
    on disposal/dilution of interest in associates/joint ventures (2.0)         (26.8)       (8.2)        (33.5)       

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
  to income statement:

  Fair value changes on Fair Value through Other
 Comprehensive Income ("FVOCI") investments (85.1)       (62.0)       (114.5)     115.2       

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (313.6)     (310.3)     (368.3)     (366.2)      

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2,476.4   (1,647.4)  3,660.1   437.3       

Attributable to: 
Shareholders of the Company 2,472.2   (1,651.2)  3,649.8   429.1       
Non-controlling interests 4.2          3.8          10.3       8.2          

2,476.4   (1,647.4)  3,660.1   437.3       

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
As at 31 March 2025 
 

As at As at As at As at
31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24

S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil
Notes (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,773.2        4,605.2        221.2           444.5           
Trade and other receivables 5,059.0        5,005.7        470.0           375.5           
Due from subsidiaries -                 -                 2,009.1        3,568.7        

Inventories 293.7           301.4           46.9             61.5             
Derivative financial instruments 26.9             29.2             0.6               0.6               
Other assets 38.6             418.6           -                 21.5             

8,191.4        10,360.1      2,747.8        4,472.3        

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10,280.3      10,046.5      1,924.5        1,903.9        
Right-of-use assets 2,701.0        2,824.2        368.9           401.6           
Intangible assets 9,562.4        8,227.0        -                 -                 
Subsidiaries -                 -                 19,156.8      18,611.1      
Joint ventures 12,199.1      10,538.4      1.1               1.1               
Associates 1,740.5        2,219.5        24.7             24.7             
Fair value through other comprehensive
  income ("FVOCI") investments 736.1           604.9           -                 -                 
Derivative financial instruments 93.8             161.1           3.3               25.9             
Deferred tax assets 684.4           600.1           -                 -                 
Other assets 594.3           616.7           33.7             56.4             

38,591.9      35,838.4      21,513.0      21,024.7      

Total assets 46,783.3      46,198.5      24,260.8      25,497.0      

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5,181.8        5,406.2        971.7           1,237.8        
Due to subsidiaries -                 -                 2,299.5        2,519.5        
Advance billings 768.9           750.7           99.4             99.5             
Current tax liabilities 914.3           887.0           59.6             34.5             
Borrowings (unsecured) 13 996.1           24.0             -                 -                 
Borrowings (secured) 13 472.6           545.7           45.3             62.3             
Derivative financial instruments 24.4             14.8             0.1               10.6             
Net deferred gain 21.0             21.0             -                 -                 

8,379.1        7,649.4        3,475.6        3,964.2        

Group Company

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
As at 31 March 2025 

 

As at As at As at As at
31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24

S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil
Notes (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Non-current liabilities
Advance billings 564.9           503.0           452.0           363.6           
Borrowings (unsecured) 13 7,144.1        8,225.3        673.7           668.1           
Borrowings (secured) 13 3,058.9        3,104.6        304.5           336.8           
Derivative financial instruments 593.9           649.3           214.6           206.3           
Net deferred gain 344.4           344.6           -                 -                 
Deferred tax liabilities 509.7           539.7           257.6           271.7           
Other non-current liabilities 231.9           217.9           68.2             39.2             

12,447.8      13,584.4      1,970.6        1,885.7        

Total liabilities 20,826.9      21,233.8      5,446.2        5,849.9        

Net assets 25,956.4      24,964.7      18,814.6      19,647.1      

Share capital and reserves
Share capital 16 4,573.1        4,573.1        4,573.1        4,573.1        
Reserves 20,305.7      19,341.9      14,241.5      15,074.0      

Equity attributable to shareholders
  of the Company 24,878.8      23,915.0      18,814.6      19,647.1      
Perpetual securities 1,012.6        1,012.7        -                 -                 

25,891.4      24,927.7      18,814.6      19,647.1      
Non-controlling interests 65.0             37.0             -                 -                 

Total equity 25,956.4      24,964.7      18,814.6      19,647.1      

Group Company

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the second half year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Currency Non-

Share Treasury Capital Translation Hedging Fair Value Retained Other Total Perpetual Total controlling Total
Group - 2025 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve (2) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserves (3) Securities Interests Equity
(Unaudited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 October 2024 4,573.1  (8.8)          (98.3)     (4,293.7)      (187.5)   171.1     23,382.8  (9.7)            23,529.0   1,012.7   24,541.7   52.7          24,594.4   

Changes in equity for the period

Distribution paid on perpetual securities -           -             -          -                -          -           2.8           -               2.8            (16.5)       (13.7)        -             (13.7)        
Accrued perpetual securities distribution -           -             -          -                -          -           (16.4)        -               (16.4)         16.4        -             -             -             
Performance shares purchased by the Company -           (33.9)        -          -                -          -           -             -               (33.9)         -            (33.9)        -             (33.9)        
Performance shares purchased by the 
  Company on behalf of subsidiaries -           (3.9)          -          -                -          -           -             -               (3.9)           -            (3.9)          -             (3.9)          
Performance shares vested -           0.3           (0.3)       -                -          -           -             -               -              -            -             -             -             
Equity-settled share based payment -           -             15.5      -                -          -           -             -               15.5          -            15.5          -             15.5          
Goodwill reclassified on dilution of 

 equity interest in joint venture -           -             -          -                -          -           (0.5)          0.5             -              -            -             -             -             
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -           -             -          -                -          -           -             -               -              -            -             (6.5)          (6.5)          
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -          -                -          -           (1,155.9)   -               (1,155.9)    -            (1,155.9)   -             (1,155.9)   
Contribution from non-controlling interests -           -             -          -                -          -           -             69.4           69.4          -            69.4          14.6          84.0          
Reclassification due to disposal of 
    FVOCI Investments -           -             -          -                -          5.6         (5.6)          -               -              -            -             -             -             

-           (37.5)        15.2      -                -          5.6         (1,175.6)   69.9           (1,122.4)    (0.1)         (1,122.5)   8.1            (1,114.4)   

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
  for the period -           -             -          (219.1)         (3.9)       (85.1)      2,785.8    (5.5)            2,472.2     -            2,472.2     4.2            2,476.4     

Balance as at 31 March 2025 4,573.1  (46.3)        (83.1)     (4,512.8)      (191.4)   91.6       24,993.0  54.7           24,878.8   1,012.6   25,891.4   65.0          25,956.4   

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the second half year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Currency Non-

Share Treasury Capital Translation Hedging Fair Value Retained Other Total Perpetual Total controlling Total
Group - 2024 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve (2) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserves (3) Securities Interests Equity
(Unaudited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 October 2023 4,573.1  (14.0)        (69.5)     (3,975.1)      (134.6)   225.2     26,054.8  (480.1)        26,179.8   1,012.7   27,192.5   18.2          27,210.7   

Changes in equity for the period

Distribution paid on perpetual securities -           -             -          -                -          -           2.7           -               2.7            (16.5)       (13.8)        -             (13.8)        
Accrued perpetual securities distribution -           -             -          -                -          -           (16.5)        -               (16.5)         16.5        -             -             -             
Performance shares purchased by the Company -           (18.3)        -          -                -          -           -             -               (18.3)         -            (18.3)        -             (18.3)        
Equity-settled share based payment -           -             17.4      -                -          -           -             -               17.4          -            17.4          -             17.4          
Cash paid to employees under 

performance share plans -           -             (0.1)       -                -          -           -             -               (0.1)           -            (0.1)          -             (0.1)          
Reclassification from Capital Reserve to

Retained Earnings -           -             (28.6)     -                -          -           28.6         -               -              -            -             -             -             
Goodwill reclassified on dilution of 

 equity interest in joint venture -           -             -          -                -          -           (19.3)        19.3           -              -            -             -             -             
Reclassfication from Other Reserves to

Retained Earnings -           -             -          -                -          -           (27.7)        27.7           -              -            -             -             -             
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -           -             -          -                -          -           -             -               -              -            -             (6.5)          (6.5)          
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -          -                -          -           (858.3)      -               (858.3)       -            (858.3)      -             (858.3)      
Contribution from non-controlling interests -           -             -          -                -          -           -             259.5         259.5        -            259.5        21.5          281.0        
Reclassification due to disposal of 
    FVOCI Investments -           -             -          -                -          38.0       (38.0)        -               -              -            -             -             -             

-           (18.3)        (11.3)     -                -          38.0       (928.5)      306.5         (613.6)       -            (613.6)      15.0          (598.6)      

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
  for the period -           -             -          (227.4)         (21.7)     (62.0)      (1,341.4)   1.3             (1,651.2)    -            (1,651.2)   3.8            (1,647.4)   

Balance as at 31 March 2024 4,573.1  (32.3)        (80.8)     (4,202.5)      (156.3)   201.2     23,784.9  (172.3)        23,915.0   1,012.7   24,927.7   37.0          24,964.7   

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the second half year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Share Treasury Capital Hedging Retained Other Total 

Company - 2025 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserve Equity 
(Unaudited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 October 2024 4,573.1             (6.2)                   91.4                  (7.2)                   14,851.2           311.6                19,813.9           

Changes in equity for the period

Performance shares purchased by the Company -                      (33.9)                 -                      -                      -                      -                      (33.9)                 
Performance shares purchased by the Company 
  on behalf of subsidiaries -                      (3.9)                   -                      -                      -                      -                      (3.9)                   
Performance shares vested -                      0.3                    (0.3)                   -                      -                      -                      -                      
Equity-settled share based payment -                      -                      8.8                    -                      -                      -                      8.8                    
Release of deemed return of capital from a subsidiary -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      (311.6)               (311.6)               
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -                      -                      -                      -                      (1,155.9)            -                      (1,155.9)            

-                      (37.5)                 8.5                    -                      (1,155.9)            (311.6)               (1,496.5)            

Total comprehensive income for the period -                      -                      -                      1.4                    495.8                -                      497.2                

Balance as at 31 March 2025 4,573.1             (43.7)                 99.9                  (5.8)                   14,191.1           -                      18,814.6           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the second half year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Share Treasury Capital Hedging Retained Other Total 

Company - 2024 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserve Equity 
(Unaudited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 October 2023 4,573.1             (11.4)                 88.3                  56.9                  14,360.4           -                      19,067.3           

Changes in equity for the period

Performance shares purchased by the Company -                      (18.3)                 -                      -                      -                      -                      (18.3)                 
Equity-settled share based payment -                      -                      11.8                  -                      -                      -                      11.8                  
Cash paid to employees under performance share plans -                      -                      (0.1)                   -                      -                      -                      (0.1)                   
Deemed return of capital from a subsidiary -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      311.6                311.6                
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -                      -                      -                      -                      (858.3)               -                      (858.3)               

-                      (18.3)                 11.7                  -                      (858.3)               311.6                (553.3)               

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period -                      -                      -                      (37.2)                 1,170.3             -                      1,133.1             

Balance as at 31 March 2024 4,573.1             (29.7)                 100.0                19.7                  14,672.4           311.6                19,647.1            
 
Notes: 
(1) ‘Treasury Shares’ are accounted for in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) 1-32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. 
(2) ‘Currency Translation Reserve’ relates mainly to the translation of the net assets of foreign subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Group denominated mainly in 

Australian Dollar, Indian Rupee, Indonesian Rupiah, Philippine Peso and Thai Baht. 
(3) ‘Other Reserves’ relate mainly to goodwill on acquisitions completed prior to 1 April 2001, the share of other comprehensive income or loss of the associates and joint ventures 

and transactions with non-controlling interests.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Currency Non-

Share Treasury Capital Translation Hedging Fair Value Retained Other Total Perpetual Total controlling Total
Group - 2025 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve (2) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserves (3) Securities Interests Equity
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 April 2024 4,573.1  (32.3)        (80.8)      (4,202.5)      (156.3)    201.2       23,784.9       (172.3)       23,915.0    1,012.7   24,927.7  37.0           24,964.7          

Changes in equity for the year

Distribution paid on perpetual securities -           -             -           -                -           -             5.6                -              5.6             (33.0)       (27.4)        -               (27.4)                
Accrued perpetual securities distribution -           -             -           -                -           -             (32.9)             -              (32.9)          32.9        -             -               -                     
Performance shares purchased by

the Company -           (33.9)        -           -                -           -             -                  -              (33.9)          -            (33.9)        -               (33.9)                
Performance shares purchased by the 
  Company on behalf of subsidiaries -           (3.9)          -           -                -           -             -                  -              (3.9)            -            (3.9)          -               (3.9)                  
Performance shares vested -           19.9         (19.9)      -                -           -             -                  -              -               -            -             -               -                     
Performance shares vested by the 
  Company on behalf of subsidiaries -           3.9           (3.9)        -                -           -             -                  -              -               -            -             -               -                     
Equity-settled share based payment -           -             32.6       -                -           -             -                  -              32.6           -            32.6         -               32.6                 
Cash paid to employees under 

performance share plans -           -             (0.6)        -                -           -             -                  -              (0.6)            -            (0.6)          -               (0.6)                  
Performance shares purchased by Singtel

Optus Pty Limited ("Optus") and vested -           -             (10.5)      -                -           -             -                  -              (10.5)          -            (10.5)        -               (10.5)                
Goodwill reclassified on dilution of 

  equity interest in joint venture -           -             -           -                -           -             (2.9)               2.9            -               -            -             -               -                     
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -           -             -           -                -           -             -                  -              -               -            -             (6.5)            (6.5)                  
Final dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -           -                -           -             (1,618.3)        -              (1,618.3)     -            (1,618.3)   -               (1,618.3)           
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -           -                -           -             (1,155.9)        -              (1,155.9)     -            (1,155.9)   -               (1,155.9)           
Contribution from non-controlling interests -           -             -           -                -           -             -                  131.8        131.8         -            131.8       24.2           156.0               
Reclassification due to disposal of 
  FVOCI investments -           -             -           -                -           4.9           (4.9)               -              -               -            -             -               -                     

-           (14.0)        (2.3)        -                -           4.9           (2,809.3)        134.7        (2,686.0)     (0.1)         (2,686.1)   17.7           (2,668.4)           
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
   for the year -           -             -           (310.3)         (35.1)      (114.5)      4,017.4         92.3          3,649.8      -            3,649.8    10.3           3,660.1            

Balance as at 31 March 2025 4,573.1  (46.3)        (83.1)      (4,512.8)      (191.4)    91.6         24,993.0       54.7          24,878.8    1,012.6   25,891.4  65.0           25,956.4          

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Currency Non-

Share Treasury Capital Translation Hedging Fair Value Retained Other Total Perpetual Total controlling Other Total
Group - 2024 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve (2) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserves (3) Securities Interests Reserve (4) Equity
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 April 2023 4,573.1  (31.8)        (56.3)      (3,749.6)      (93.6)      32.9         24,857.0       (539.4)       24,992.3    1,012.6   26,004.9  16.2           (6.8)               26,014.3  

Changes in equity for the year

Distribution paid on perpetual securities -           -             -           -                -           -             5.6                -              5.6             (33.0)       (27.4)        -               -                  (27.4)        
Accrued perpetual securities distribution -           -             -           -                -           -             (33.1)             -              (33.1)          33.1        -             -               -                  -             
Performance shares purchased by

the Company -           (21.3)        -           -                -           -             -                  -              (21.3)          -            (21.3)        -               -                  (21.3)        
Performance shares purchased by the 
  Company on behalf of subsidiaries -           (4.1)          -           -                -           -             -                  -              (4.1)            -            (4.1)          -               -                  (4.1)          
Performance shares vested -           24.9         (24.9)      -                -           -             -                  -              -               -            -             -               -                  -             
Equity-settled share based payment -           -             36.4       -                -           -             -                  -              36.4           -            36.4         -               -                  36.4         
Cash paid to employees under 

performance share plans -           -             (0.1)        -                -           -             -                  -              (0.1)            -            (0.1)          -               -                  (0.1)          
Performance shares purchased by 

Optus and vested -           -             (7.3)        -                -           -             -                  -              (7.3)            -            (7.3)          -               -                  (7.3)          
Reclassification from Capital Reserve to

Retained Earnings -           -             (28.6)      -                -           -             28.6              -              -               -            -             -               -                  -             
Goodwill reclassified on dilution of 

  equity interest in joint venture -           -             -           -                -           -             (22.1)             22.1          -               -            -             -               -                  -             
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests -           -             -           -                -           -             -                  -              -               -            -             (6.5)            -                  (6.5)          
Reclassification from Other Reserves to 
   Retained Earnings -           -             -           -                -           -             (59.5)             59.5          -               -            -             -               -                  -             
Final dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -           -                -           -             (875.0)           -              (875.0)        -            (875.0)      -               -                  (875.0)      
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -           -             -           -                -           -             (858.3)           -              (858.3)        -            (858.3)      -               -                  (858.3)      
Acquisition of non-controlling interests -           -             -           -                -           -             -                  (8.5)           (8.5)            -            (8.5)          (2.4)            6.8                (4.1)          
Contribution from non-controlling interests -           -             -           -                -           -             -                  259.5        259.5         -            259.5       21.5           -                  281.0       
Reclassification due to disposal of 
  FVOCI investments -           -             -           -                -           53.1         (53.1)             -              -               -            -             -               -                  -             
Others -           -             -           -                -           -             (0.2)               -              (0.2)            -            (0.2)          -               -                  (0.2)          

-           (0.5)          (24.5)      -                -           53.1         (1,867.1)        332.6        (1,506.4)     0.1          (1,506.3)   12.6           6.8                (1,486.9)   
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
   for the year -           -             -           (452.9)         (62.7)      115.2       795.0            34.5          429.1         -            429.1       8.2             -                  437.3       

Balance as at 31 March 2024 4,573.1  (32.3)        (80.8)      (4,202.5)      (156.3)    201.2       23,784.9       (172.3)       23,915.0    1,012.7   24,927.7  37.0           -                  24,964.7  

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

 
 
 The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Share Treasury Capital Hedging Retained Other Total 

Company - 2025 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserve Equity 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 April 2024 4,573.1               (29.7)                   100.0                  19.7                    14,672.4             311.6                  19,647.1             

Changes in equity for the year

Performance shares purchased by the Company -                        (33.9)                   -                        -                        -                        -                        (33.9)                   
Performance shares purchased by the Company 
  on behalf of subsidiaries -                        (3.9)                     -                        -                        -                        -                        (3.9)                     
Performance shares vested -                        19.9                    (19.9)                   -                        -                        -                        -                        
Performance shares vested on behalf of subsidiaries -                        3.9                      -                        -                        -                        -                        3.9                      
Equity-settled share based payment -                        -                        20.4                    -                        -                        -                        20.4                    
Cash paid to employees under performance share plans -                        -                        (0.6)                     -                        -                        -                        (0.6)                     
Final dividend paid (see Note 17) -                        -                        -                        -                        (1,618.3)              -                        (1,618.3)              
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -                        -                        -                        -                        (1,155.9)              -                        (1,155.9)              
Release of deemed return of capital from a subsidiary -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        (311.6)                 (311.6)                 

-                        (14.0)                   (0.1)                     -                        (2,774.2)              (311.6)                 (3,099.9)              

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year -                        -                        -                        (25.5)                   2,292.9               -                        2,267.4               

Balance as at 31 March 2025 4,573.1               (43.7)                   99.9                    (5.8)                     14,191.1             -                        18,814.6             

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 



SINGAPORE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES                      12 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

Share Treasury Capital Hedging Retained Other Total 

Company - 2024 Capital Shares (1) Reserve Reserve Earnings Reserve Equity 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at 1 April 2023 4,573.1               (29.2)                   97.5                    32.3                    14,786.2             -                        19,459.9             

Changes in equity for the year

Performance shares purchased by the Company -                        (21.3)                   -                        -                        -                        -                        (21.3)                   
Performance shares vested -                        20.8                    (20.8)                   -                        -                        -                        -                        
Equity-settled share based payment -                        -                        23.4                    -                        -                        -                        23.4                    
Cash paid to employees under performance share plans -                        -                        (0.1)                     -                        -                        -                        (0.1)                     
Final dividend paid (see Note 17) -                        -                        -                        -                        (875.0)                 -                        (875.0)                 
Interim dividend paid (see Note 17) -                        -                        -                        -                        (858.3)                 -                        (858.3)                 
Deemed return of capital from a subsidiary -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        311.6                  311.6                  
Others -                        -                        -                        -                        (0.2)                     -                        (0.2)                     

-                        (0.5)                     2.5                      -                        (1,733.5)              311.6                  (1,419.9)              

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year -                        -                        -                        (12.6)                   1,619.7               -                        1,607.1               

Balance as at 31 March 2024 4,573.1               (29.7)                   100.0                  19.7                    14,672.4             311.6                  19,647.1             

 
 
Notes: 
(1) ‘Treasury Shares’ are accounted for in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. 
(2) ‘Currency Translation Reserve’ relates mainly to the translation of the net assets of foreign subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Group denominated mainly in 

Australian Dollar, Indian Rupee, Indonesian Rupiah, Philippine Peso and Thai Baht. 
(3) ‘Other Reserves’ relate mainly to goodwill on acquisitions completed prior to 1 April 2001 and the share of other comprehensive income or loss of the associates and joint 

ventures and transactions with non-controlling interests.  
(4) This amount relates to a reserve for an obligation arising from a put option written with the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net profit/(loss) before tax 3,175.1     (1,358.1)    4,593.3     961.2        

Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation 1,201.6     1,236.7     2,410.6     2,444.0     
Exceptional items (989.2)       2,393.2     (1,027.4)    1,180.3     
Interest and investment income (net) (40.0)         (56.9)         (102.9)       (141.3)       
Finance costs 207.2        231.4        445.4        444.2        
Share of results of associates and 
  joint ventures (post-tax) (1,726.0)    (685.5)       (2,569.6)    (1,361.5)    
Other non-cash items 24.2          15.8          38.7          34.4          

(1,322.2)    3,134.7     (805.2)       2,600.1     

Operating cash flow before working
capital changes 1,852.9     1,776.6     3,788.1     3,561.3     

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade and other receivables (374.2)       174.0        (512.0)       29.2          
Trade and other payables 998.5        504.5        417.8        19.5          
Inventories (18.5)         (15.2)         (0.5)           36.0          

Cash generated from operations 2,458.7     2,439.9     3,693.4     3,646.0     

Payment to employees in cash under 
performance share plans -              (0.1)           (0.6)           (0.1)           

Dividends received from associates and 
joint ventures 291.4        113.4        1,388.1     1,413.4     

Income tax and withholding tax paid (Note 1) (279.0)       (100.5)       (471.7)       (341.3)       

Net cash generated from operating activities 2,471.1     2,452.7     4,609.2     4,718.0     

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payment for purchase of property, plant 

and equipment (1,294.1)    (1,072.7)    (2,132.8)    (2,149.5)    
Purchase of intangible assets (447.8)       (72.0)         (1,809.6)    (213.0)       
Proceeds from partial disposal of Comcentre property (Note 2) 1,379.6     -              1,379.6     -              
Proceeds from disposal of associates and joint ventures (Note 3) 567.7        936.6        579.4        936.6        
Proceeds from investment in Singapore Treasury bills -              -              -              1,400.0     
Proceeds from fixed deposits with original maturity of more

than three months 70.7          770.0        418.9        1,087.0     
Fixed deposits with original maturity of more than

three months (0.3)           (21.5)         (397.4)       (1,008.6)    
Payment for leasehold land development cost (314.2)       -              (314.2)       -              
Investment in associates and joint ventures (Note 4) (122.0)       (18.8)         (183.5)       (265.9)       
Payment for acquisition of FVOCI investments (Note 5) (225.8)       (11.7)         (245.8)       (27.6)         
Contribution from non-controlling interests (Note 6) 84.0          282.2        156.0        282.2        
Proceeds from sale of FVOCI investments (Note 7) 32.1          154.2        43.0          163.0        
Payment/Deferred payment for acquisition of 

subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (1.5)           (1.5)           (12.8)         (8.5)           

Balance carried forward (271.6)       944.8        (2,519.2)    195.7        

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities (continued)

Balance brought forward (271.6)       944.8         (2,519.2)     195.7         

Interest received 32.0           49.0           108.2         86.1           
Withholding tax paid on intra-group interest income (16.9)         (12.8)          (30.2)          (24.4)          
Investment income received from FVOCI investments 0.2             3.1             0.2             9.6             
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling interests -              -               -               (6.9)            
Loan to joint ventures (35.9)         (9.9)            (48.4)          (9.9)            
Repayment of loan from an associate 64.7           11.8           69.5           11.8           
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash balances 14.8           -               17.9           -               
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.2             3.6             0.4             26.5           
Others -            (58.5)          (5.6)            (41.2)          

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (212.5)       931.1         (2,407.2)     247.3         

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from term loans 908.7         1,440.5      1,625.2      2,713.0      
Repayment of term loans (1,148.6)    (698.1)        (1,875.9)     (1,544.2)     
Proceeds from bond issue 249.1         -               249.1         354.8         
Repayment of bonds -              -               -             (437.7)        
Proceeds from other borrowings 3.9             6.8             9.0             18.4           
Repayment of other borrowings (11.0)         (9.8)            (23.6)          (24.8)          
Lease payments (212.3)       (186.8)        (444.4)        (417.4)        

  Net (repayment of)/proceeds from borrowings (210.2)       552.6         (460.6)        662.1         
Final dividend paid to shareholders of the Company (313.8)       -               (1,618.3)     (875.0)        
Interim dividend paid to shareholders of the Company (1,155.9)    (858.3)        (1,155.9)     (858.3)        
Special dividend paid to shareholders of the Company -              -               -             (412.8)        
Net interest paid (Note 1) (354.1)       (218.0)        (576.5)        (416.7)        
Net change to other payables -              -               (131.2)        -               
Distribution paid on perpetual securities (16.5)         (16.5)          (33.0)          (33.0)          
Purchase of performance shares (37.8)         (18.3)          (48.3)          (32.7)          
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (6.5)           (6.5)            (6.5)            (6.5)            
Others 2.9             (21.9)          2.7             (19.8)          

Net cash used in financing activities (2,091.9)    (586.9)        (4,027.6)     (1,992.7)     

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 166.7         2,796.9      (1,825.6)     2,972.6      
Exchange effects on cash and cash equivalents 1.4             (16.8)          (3.7)            (21.7)          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period/year 2,597.7      1,815.0      4,595.1      1,644.2      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year (Note 8) 2,765.8      4,595.1      2,765.8      4,595.1      

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
Note (1): One-off tax payment to the Australian Taxation Office 
 
 In the current financial year, the Group made one-off tax payment of S$174 million and 

related interest of S$132 million to the Australian Taxation Office in respect of the 
acquisition financing of Optus.  

 
 
Note (2): Proceeds from partial disposal of Comcentre property 
 

In the current financial year, Lendlease subscribed for a 49% stake in Singtel Somerset 
Pte. Ltd. (“SSPL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group which holds its Comcentre 
property. On completion of the transaction, the Group received net proceeds of S$1.38 
billion, after a capital injection into SSPL. 

 
 
Note (3):  Proceeds from disposal of associates and joint ventures 
 

(a) In the current financial year, the Group completed the divestment of the following: 
 

(i) 3.7% stake in Intouch Holdings Public Company Limited (“Intouch”) for a net 
consideration of S$466 million. Following the divestment, the Group’s effective 
economic interest in Intouch reduced from 24.99% to 21.3%.  

 
(ii) 4.2% stake in Indara Corporation Pty Ltd (“Indara”) for a net consideration of 

S$102 million. Following the divestment, the Group’s effective economic interest 
in Indara reduced from 18.0% to 13.8%. 

  
(b) In the previous financial year, the Group sold 0.8% of its direct stake in Bharti Airtel 

Limited (“Airtel”) for a net consideration of S$937 million. Following the divestment, 
the Group’s effective economic interest in Airtel was reduced from 29.7% to 28.9%.  

 
 
Note (4): Investment in associates and joint ventures 
 

In the previous financial year, the Group completed the subscription of new shares in PT 
Telekomunikasi Selular (“Telkomsel”) for S$247 million. Following the completion of the 
subscription, the Group holds an equity interest of 30.1% in Telkomsel.   

 
 

Note (5): Payment for acquisition of FVOCI investments 
 
 In the current financial year, the Group’s investment in FVOCI investments included the 

subscription of redeemable non-voting preference shares of STT GDC Pte. Ltd. for 
S$200 million. 

 
 
Note (6): Contribution from non-controlling interests 
  
 In the current financial year, Nxera Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Nxera”), the holding company for 

Singtel’s regional data centre business, issued new redeemable convertible preference 
shares to Stellar Asia Holdings II Pte. Ltd (“Stellar”) for a net consideration of S$156 
million, representing a 3.0% stake in Nxera. 

  
In the previous financial year, Nxera issued new redeemable convertible preference 
shares to Stellar for a net consideration of S$282 million, representing a 6.0% stake in 
Nxera. 

 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 



SINGAPORE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES                    16 
       
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
Note (7): Proceeds from sale of FVOCI investments 
 

In the previous financial year, the Group sold 3.9% stake in Airtel Africa plc. 
 
 
Note (8): For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 

comprised: 
 

Group 2025 2024
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

Fixed deposits 1,988.1          3,202.6          
Cash and bank balances 785.1             1,402.6          

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated 
   Statement of Financial Position 2,773.2          4,605.2          

Less: Restricted cash (7.4)                (10.1)              

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated
   Statement of Cash Flows 2,765.8          4,595.1          

As at 31 Mar

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position included 
restricted cash relating to the interest service reserve account required to be maintained 
for the term loan of the Group.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 17 to 38 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

The Group prepares its condensed consolidated interim financial statements in accordance 
with Singapore Financial Reporting Standard (International) (“SFRS(I)”) 1-34 Interim Financial 
Reporting. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements do not include all the 
information required for a complete set of financial statements. However, selected explanatory 
notes are included to explain events and transactions that are significant to an understanding 
of the changes in the Group’s financial position and performance of the Group since the most 
recent audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.  

 
The same accounting policies and methods of computation have been applied in the 
preparation of the financial statements for the current period as the most recent audited 
financial statements for the year ended, and as at, 31 March 2024, except for the mandatory 
adoption of new standards effective as of 1 April 2024. The adoption of the new standards has 
no significant impact on the condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 
 

 
2. OPERATING EXPENSES  
 
 The income statement included the following items - 

 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Impairment of trade receivables 32.1          44.2          86.2          88.2          

Allowance for/(Writeback of) inventory
   obsolescence (net) 3.0            (1.0)           3.1            1.7            

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
 

3. OTHER INCOME 
 
 Other income included the following items – 
 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Rental income 0.8            1.1            2.6            3.0            
Net exchange gains/(losses) 7.8            0.4            7.6            (0.9)           
Net (losses)/gains on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment (2.0)           (0.3)           0.7            0.1            

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
4. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Depreciation of property, plant and
  equipment 839.8        891.3        1,701.0     1,753.6     
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 204.7        204.7        413.4        409.1        
Amortisation of intangibles 157.1        140.7        296.2        281.3        

1,201.6     1,236.7     2,410.6     2,444.0     

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

  
 
5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Exceptional gains
Deconsolidation gain of Comcentre property (1) 1,290.5      -              1,290.5      -               
Gain on partial disposal of direct stake in
   associates and joint venture (2) 200.1         794.4        211.3         794.4         
Gain on dilution of interest in joint ventures 11.0           55.9          66.8           1,327.4      
Other gains 0.5             20.5          0.5             33.6           

1,502.1      870.8        1,569.1      2,155.4      

Exceptional losses
Regulatory and remediation provisions (170.8)        -              (170.8)        -               
Impairment of investment in an associate (170.0)        -              (170.0)        -               
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (3) (120.2)        (512.8)       (120.2)        (512.8)        
Impairment of goodwill (3) -               (2,604.2)    -               (2,604.2)     
Costs related to network outage in Australia -               (53.5)         -               (53.5)          
Write off of capitalised commission costs (36.2)          -              (36.2)          -               
Staff restructuring costs (15.1)          (40.0)         (38.3)          (60.8)          
Loss on disposal of subsidiary (4) (13.3)          (48.1)         (13.3)          (105.3)        
Release of goodwill in joint venture (2.4)            (14.8)         (21.3)          (21.6)          
Other losses (1.2)            (39.8)         (14.1)          (47.5)          

(529.2)        (3,313.2)    (584.2)        (3,405.7)     

972.9         (2,442.4)    984.9         (1,250.3)     

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 

Notes:  
(1) In the current financial year, Lendlease subscribed for a 49% stake in SSPL, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Group which holds its Comcentre property. On completion of the transaction, the 
Group ceased to have effective control over SSPL.  

(2) In the current financial year, the Group disposed its stakes of 3.7% and 4.2% in Intouch and Indara 
respectively. In the previous financial year, the Group partially sold its direct stakes of 0.8% in Bharti 
Airtel Limited (“Airtel”).  

(3) In the previous financial year, the Group recorded a non-cash impairment provision of S$2.0 billion 
on the goodwill of Optus, S$340 million on the goodwill of Asia Pacific Cyber Security Business and 
S$280 million (A$320 million) on the goodwill of NCS (Australia). The Group also recorded non-cash 
impairment charges of S$513 million on its enterprise fixed access network assets in Australia. 

(4) In the previous financial year, the Group sold its 100% equity stake in Trustwave Holdings, Inc 
(“Trustwave”).  
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 

 
 

6. SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES  
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Share of ordinary results 1,330.3     1,143.1     2,498.9     2,338.1     
Share of tax of ordinary results (396.1)       (318.7)       (746.1)       (656.9)       
Share of exceptional items (post-tax) (1) 791.8        (138.9)       816.8        (319.7)       

1,726.0     685.5        2,569.6     1,361.5     

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 

Notes:  
(1) Comprised mainly share of exceptional items of Airtel, Globe Telecom, Inc. (“Globe”) and Singapore 

Post Limited (“SingPost”).  
 
(a) Airtel’s net gains were mainly from a fair value gain from the consolidation of a joint venture, a 

reversal of a doubtful debt provision, recognition of a deferred tax credit from tax losses, which 
were partly offset by fair value losses from currency devaluations in Africa, provisions for various 
regulatory charges and assets impairment.  
In the previous financial year, Airtel’s net losses included fair value losses from currency 
devaluations in Africa as well as from revaluations of its foreign currency convertible bonds. 

(b) Globe’s exceptional items comprised gains from the sale of telecommunication towers and gain 
on dilution of interest in its joint venture.  
In the previous financial year, Globe’s exceptional item comprised gains from the sale of 
telecommunication towers.  

(c) SingPost’s exceptional items included gain on divestment of its Australian logistics business, 
partly offset by impairment on the goodwill carried on its investment.  

 

 
 
7. INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME (NET) 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Interest income from
 - bank deposits 22.5         49.9         94.5         90.2         
 - Singapore Treasury bills -             -             -             13.7         
 - others 1.1           2.5           4.2           6.5           

23.6         52.4         98.7         110.4       
Gross dividends and other investment income 0.5           3.1           0.9           10.0         
Fair value (losses)/gains on fair value hedges
 - hedged items (11.6)        (31.2)        (16.0)        (9.1)          
 - hedging instruments 10.6         31.0         15.2         8.3           

(1.0)          (0.2)          (0.8)          (0.8)          
Fair value (losses)/gains on cash flow hedges
 - hedged items (265.2)      30.5         (0.8)          (83.7)        
 - hedging instruments 265.2       (30.5)        0.8           83.7         

-             -             -             -             
Other fair value gains/(losses) 0.7           (1.2)          (0.2)          (2.6)          
Other foreign exchange gains 16.2         2.8           4.3           24.3         

40.0         56.9         102.9       141.3       

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar
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8. FINANCE COSTS 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Interest expense on
 - bonds 121.2       121.4       242.6       246.8       
 - bank loans 39.2         36.1         79.9         51.3         
 - lease liabilities 63.5         67.0         132.6       134.3       

223.9       224.5       455.1       432.4       
Less : Amounts capitalised (4.1)          (2.7)          (7.3)          (5.0)          

219.8       221.8       447.8       427.4       
Financing related (refund)/costs (3.0)          20.0         18.1         36.0         
Effects of hedging using interest
   rate swaps (9.6)          (10.4)        (20.5)        (19.2)        

207.2       231.4       445.4       444.2       

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
 

9. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Current and deferred tax expense/(credit)
  attributable to current period/year's profits 340.6        (48.6)         420.6        17.8          

Current and deferred tax adjustments 
  in respect of prior years (0.7)           3.1            (2.0)           2.9            

Withholding taxes on dividend income
  from associate and joint ventures 45.2          24.5          146.3        137.0        

385.1        (21.0)         564.9        157.7        

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
The Group is subject to the global minimum top-up tax under the Pillar Two model rules.  
 
Under the Pillar Two model rules, the Pillar Two effective tax rate (“ETR”) is assessed on a 
jurisdictional basis and top-up tax is payable if the jurisdictional ETR is below 15%. Transitional 
Country-by-Country Safe Harbour rules (“TCSH”) have also been implemented to provide 
temporary relief from compliance obligations during the initial implementation period. Under the 
TCSH, the top-up tax for such tax jurisdictions is deemed to be zero if certain tests are met. 
 
For those jurisdictions where the Pillar Two rules are effective in the current financial year, the 
Group has assessed that they have met the tests under the TCSH. Accordingly, there was no 
top-up tax arising in these jurisdictions for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. 
 
For the other tax jurisdictions, the entities will be either subject to the Pillar Two rules that are 
effective in their jurisdictions, or subject to the Singapore Income Inclusion Rule for financial 
years starting from 1 January 2025 (i.e. applicable to the Group from the financial year starting 
from 1 April 2025 onwards).  
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10. BREAKDOWN OF SALES 
 

31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
S$ Mil S$ Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) % change

Sales reported for first half year 6,991.9      7,028.3       -0.5%

Operating profit after tax before deducting 
  non-controlling interest reported for first half year 1,238.4      2,140.6       -42.1%

Sales reported for second half year 7,154.2      7,099.2       0.8%

Operating profit/(loss) after tax before deducting 
  non-controlling interest reported for second half year 2,790.0      (1,337.1)      n.m.

Year

 
 

“n.m.” denotes not meaningful. 

 
 
11. WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES 

 

2025 2024 2025 2024
'000 '000 '000 '000

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)
 

Weighted average number of ordinary
  shares in issue for calculation of 
  basic earnings per share 16,506,316     16,505,158    16,507,698         16,506,284    
Adjustment for dilutive effect of 
  performance share plans 50,676            49,886           50,676                49,886           

Weighted average number of ordinary
  shares for calculation of diluted
  earnings per share 16,556,992     16,555,044    16,558,374         16,556,170    

Second Half Year
31 Mar 31 Mar

 
 
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue had been adjusted to exclude the 
number of performance shares held by the Company.  

 
 
12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 

The Group classifies financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value using a fair value 
hierarchy which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The 
fair value hierarchy has the following levels -   
 
(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
 
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 which are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
 
(c) inputs for the asset or liability which are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 
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12.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following table presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 March 
2025:  
 

Group - 31 Mar 25 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial assets 

FVOCI investments
- Quoted investments 0.5            -              -              0.5            
- Unquoted investments -              -              735.6        735.6        

0.5            -              735.6        736.1        

Derivative financial instruments -              120.7        -              120.7        

0.5            120.7        735.6        856.8        

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments -              618.3        -              618.3        
-              618.3        -              618.3         

 
 

 

Group - 31 Mar 24 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial assets 

FVOCI investments
- Quoted investments 4.8            -              -              4.8            
- Unquoted investments -              -              600.1        600.1        

4.8            -              600.1        604.9        

Derivative financial instruments -              190.3        -              190.3        

4.8            190.3        600.1        795.2        

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments -              664.1        -              664.1        
-              664.1        -              664.1         

 
 

Company - 31 Mar 25 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial assets 

Derivative financial instruments -              3.9            -              3.9            

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments -              214.7        -              214.7         
 
 

Company - 31 Mar 24 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial assets 

Derivative financial instruments -              26.5          -              26.5          

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments -              216.9        -              216.9         
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12.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following table presents the liabilities not measured at fair value (but with fair value 
disclosed) as at 31 March 2025:  

 

Carrying
31 Mar 25 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial liabilities

Group

Bonds 7,200.3     5,240.8     1,790.1     -              7,030.9     

Company

Bonds 673.7        782.1        -              -              782.1        

Fair value

 
 

Carrying
31 Mar 24 Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Financial liabilities

Group

Bonds 7,001.5    5,125.7    1,523.0    -            6,648.7    

Company

Bonds 668.1       780.4       -            -            780.4       

Fair value

 
 
Except as disclosed in the above tables, the carrying values of other financial assets and 
financial liabilities approximate their fair values.  

 
Quoted and unquoted investments 
The fair values of investments traded in active markets included within Level 1 were based on 
the market quoted price or the price quoted by the market maker at the close of business at the 
end of the reporting period. 
 
The fair values of the unquoted FVOCI investments included within Level 3 were estimated 
primarily using latest arm’s length transactions.  
 
Derivatives 
Derivatives comprise cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange 
contracts which are included within Level 2. 
 
The fair value of a cross currency or an interest rate swap is the estimated amount that the 
swap contract can be exchanged for, or settled with, under normal market conditions. This fair 
value can be estimated using the discounted cash flow method where the future cash flows of 
the swap contract are discounted at the prevailing market foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates. Market interest rates are actively quoted interest rates or interest rates computed by 
applying techniques to these actively quoted interest rates. 
 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange 
market rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles at the end of the reporting period.  
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12.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following table presents the reconciliation for the unquoted FVOCI investments measured 
at fair value based on unobservable inputs (Level 3) -  
 

31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

FVOCI investments - unquoted
Balance as at 1 April 600.1         467.2         
Total (losses)/gains included in 'Fair Value Reserve' (113.5)        131.0         
Additions 280.3         27.6           
Disposals (31.0)          (24.6)          
Translation differences (0.3)            (1.1)            

Balance as at 31 March 735.6         600.1         

Group

  
 
 
13. GROUP’S BORROWINGS AND DEBT SECURITIES 

 

31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Unsecured borrowings
Repayable within one year 996.1         24.0           -               -               
Repayable after one year 7,144.1      8,225.3      673.7         668.1         

8,140.2      8,249.3      673.7         668.1         

Secured borrowings
Repayable within one year 472.6         545.7         45.3           62.3           
Repayable after one year 3,058.9      3,104.6      304.5         336.8         

3,531.5      3,650.3      349.8         399.1         

11,671.7    11,899.6    1,023.5      1,067.2      

CompanyGroup

 
 
Unsecured borrowings of the Group comprise mainly bonds and bank loans. The unsecured 
borrowings of the Company were bonds. 
 
Secured borrowings of the Group comprise lease liabilities in respect of right-of-use assets, as 
well as a bank loan of a subsidiary secured by way of fixed and floating charges over a data 
centre, plant and machinery, and other assets of certain subsidiaries. The secured borrowings 
of the Company were lease liabilities in respect of right-of-use assets. 

 
 
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 2,394.0      2,235.8      
Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposed 73.1           117.0         

Group
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15. COMMITMENTS 

 
(a) The commitments for capital expenditure, spectrum and equity investments which had 

not been recognised in the financial statements, excluding the commitments shown 
under Note 15 (b) to (f), were as follows – 
 

31 Mar 31 Mar 31 Mar 31 Mar
2025 2024 2025 2024

(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Authorised and contracted for (1)
1,462.3      3,335.4      922.3        454.4        

Group Company

 
 
Note:  
(1) As at 31 March 2024, the commitments included spectrum payments of S$1.30 billion or 

A$1.48 billion for 900 MHz spectrum in Australia, and S$0.38 billion for 700 MHz spectrum in 
Singapore. 

 
(b) As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s commitments for the purchase of broadcasting 

programme rights were S$326 million (31 March 2024: S$485 million). The 
commitments included only the minimum guaranteed amounts payable under the 
respective contracts and did not include amounts that may be payable based on 
revenue share arrangement which cannot be reliably determined as at the end of the 
reporting period.  

 
 

(c) Singtel entered into an agreement to purchase electricity from Sembcorp Power Pte 
Ltd, an associated company of the ultimate holding company, for a period of 10 years 
from 1 October 2023 to 30 September 2033. The annual contract sum is estimated at 
approximately S$180 million.   

 
 

(d) GXS Bank Pte. Ltd. (“GXS”), an associated company in which the Group has an equity 
interest of 40%, holds a digital bank licence in Singapore and is required to have a 
minimum paid up capital of S$1.5 billion when it achieves full bank status within four to 
six years after its launch in 2022. The Group’s share of this capital is S$600 million, of 
which S$127 million has been contributed by 31 March 2025. 

 
 

(e) In October 2021, the Group subscribed to Airtel’s rights issue for approximately S$552 
million. This represents the Group’s full rights entitlement for its direct stake and 
additional rights share beyond entitlement. An amount of S$138 million has been paid 
in October 2021. On 5 August 2024, Airtel announced that the call for the remaining 
balance of the partly paid-up shares will be extended till further notice. No additional 
payment was made in the current financial year. 
 
 

(f) In November 2024, the Group subscribed to S$400 million in redeemable non-voting 
preference shares of STT GDC Pte. Ltd. As at 31 March 2025, S$200 million has been 
paid.  
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16. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER EQUITY INFORMATION 

 
Share Capital   
 

Number Share Number Share
Group and Company  of shares capital  of shares capital
(Unaudited) Mil S$ Mil Mil S$ Mil

Balance as at beginning and
end of period 16,514.6    4,573.1      16,514.6    4,573.1      

Second Half and Year
31 Mar 2025 31 Mar 2024

 
 
 
As at 31 March 2025, the number of issued and paid up ordinary shares excluding treasury 
shares was16,501.3 million (31 March 2024: 16,503.3 million) .   
 
 
Treasury Shares  
 

2025 2024 2025 2024
Number of Number of Number of Number of

shares shares shares shares
Mil Mil Mil Mil

Group (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Balance at beginning of period/year 1.3                3.8               11.3              10.6              

Shares transferred to employees under 
  the Singtel Performance Share Plan 2012 (0.3)               (0.4)             (10.3)             (10.2)             
Purchase of treasury shares 12.3              7.9               12.3              10.9              

Balance at end of period/year 13.3              11.3             13.3              11.3              

Year
31 Mar

Second Half
31 Mar

 
 
As at 31 March 2025, the number of treasury shares represented 0.08% (31 March 2024: 
0.07%) of the total number of issued shares.  
 
During the second half year ended 31 March 2025, 0.3 million (31 March 2024: 0.4 million) of 
treasury shares were transferred to employees upon vesting of shares released under the 
Singtel Performance Share Plan 2012 and 12.3 million (31 March 2024: 7.9 million) of treasury 
shares were purchased. 
 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, 10.3 million (31 March 2024: 10.2 million) of 
treasury shares were transferred to employees upon vesting of shares released under the 
Singtel Performance Share Plan 2012 and 12.3 million (31 March 2024: 10.9 million) of treasury 
shares were purchased.  
 
Except for the transfers, there was no other sale, disposal, cancellation and/or other use of 
treasury shares for the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025. 
 
The Company’s subsidiaries do not hold shares in the Company as at 31 March 2025 and 31 
March 2024. 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL AND OTHER EQUITY INFORMATION (Continued) 
 

Perpetual Securities 
 
The fixed rate subordinated perpetual securities (the “perpetual securities) do not have a 
maturity date and the Group may elect to defer making a distribution, subject to the terms and 
conditions of the securities issue. Accordingly, the Group is not considered to have a contractual 
obligation to make principal repayments or distributions in respect of its perpetual securities 
issue and the perpetual securities are classified and presented as equity. Distributions are 
treated as dividends which will be directly debited from equity.  
  
Such perpetual securities bear distribution at a rate of 3.3% per annum, payable semi-annually. 
Subject to relevant terms and conditions in the offering memorandum, the Group may elect to 
defer making distributions on the perpetual securities, and is not subject to any limit as to the 
number of times a distribution can be deferred.   

 
 

Performance Shares 
 
As at 31 March 2025, the number of outstanding performance shares granted under the Singtel 
Performance Share Plan 2012 was 49,311,499 (31 March 2024: 53,779,570). 
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17. DIVIDENDS  

 

2025 2024
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

Total annual exempt (one-tier) dividend 

Final dividend 1,618.3       875.0          
Interim dividend 1,155.9       858.3          

Total 2,774.2       1,733.3       

Group and Company

 
 
During the financial year, 
 
(a) a final one-tier tax exempt ordinary dividend, comprising core dividend of 6.0 cents per 

share and a value realisation dividend of 3.8 cents per share, totalling S$1.62 billion was 
paid in respect of the previous financial year ended 31 March 2024.  
 

(b) an interim one-tier tax exempt ordinary dividend, comprising core dividend of 5.6 cents per 
share and a value realisation dividend of 1.4 cents per share, totalling S$1.16 billion was 
paid in respect of the current financial year ended 31 March 2025. 

 
The Directors have proposed a final one-tier tax exempt ordinary dividend of 10.0 cents per 
share, totalling approximately S$1.65 billion in respect of the current financial year ended 31 
March 2025 for approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The dividend consists of: 
 
(a) a core dividend of 6.7 cents per share; and 

 
(b) a value realisation dividend of 3.3 cents per share. 

 
The Singtel Scrip Dividend Scheme will not be applied to the final dividend. The final dividend, 
if approved by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, will 
be paid on 19 August 2025 to shareholders on Singtel’s register at the record date.  
 
This report does not reflect the above final dividend payable of approximately S$1.65 billion, 
which will be accounted for in the Shareholders’ Equity as an appropriation of ‘Retained 
Earnings’ in the next financial year ending 31 March 2026. 
 
Subject to the approval of the final dividend by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting, the Transfer Book and the Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 4 
August 2025 for the preparation of dividend warrants. Duly completed registrable transfers of 
the ordinary shares of the Company received by the Company’s share registrar up to 5.00 p.m. 
on 1 August 2025 will be registered to determine members’ entitlements to the final dividend.  
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18. NET ASSET VALUE 
 

As at As at As at As at
31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24

(Unaudited) S$ S$ S$ S$

Net asset value per ordinary share 1.57 1.51 1.14 1.19

Group Company

 
 
As at the end of the reporting period, the number of ordinary shares of the Group used for the 
above calculation had been adjusted to exclude treasury shares. 

 
 
19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES OF SINGTEL AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

(a) Guarantees 
 

As at 31 March 2025, the Group and Company provided the following: 
 
(i) bankers’ and other guarantees of S$343.7 million and S$66.5 million (31 March 

2024: S$526.8 million and S$71.0 million) respectively. 
 

(ii) guarantees to Monetary Authority of Singapore in relation to 40% of all 
liabilities incurred by GXS for deposits placed by customers (excluding other 
banks). This obligation only arises in the event GXS is wound up or otherwise 
dissolved without satisfying these liabilities in full.  

 
As at 31 March 2025, the Company provided the following guarantees to Singtel Group 
Treasury Pte. Ltd. (“SGT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, in respect of the following: 

 
(i) notes issue of an aggregate equivalent amount of S$4.39 billion (31 March 

2024: S$4.40 billion) due between June 2025 and April 2032.   
 

(ii) subordinated perpetual securities issue of S$1.0 billion (31 March 2024: S$1.0 
billion) due in April 2031. 

 
 

(b) In Australia, Singtel Optus Pty Limited (“Optus”) reported a cyber attack in September 
2022 which accessed certain personal information but did not impact the operation of 
Optus’ systems or its telecommunications network or services. The cyber attack is the 
subject of an ongoing regulatory investigation where the outcome is not yet 
determinable.  All other potential liabilities in relation to the cyber attack have been 
provided based on the best current estimates. 
 
 

(c) The Group is contingently liable for claims arising in the ordinary course of business 
and from certain tax assessments which are being contested, the outcomes of which 
are not presently determinable. The Group is vigorously defending all these claims. 
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20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES 
 

(a) Bharti Airtel Limited (“Airtel”) 
 
Airtel, a joint venture of the Group, has disputes with various government authorities in 
the respective jurisdictions where its operations are based, as well as with third parties 
regarding certain transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business.  

 
On 8 January 2013, Department of Telecommunications (“DOT”) issued a demand on 
Airtel Group for Rs. 52.01 billion (S$816 million) towards levy of one time spectrum 
charge, which was further revised on 27 June 2018 to Rs. 84.14 billion (S$1.32 billion), 
excluding related interest. In the opinion of Airtel, the above demand amounts to 
alteration of the terms of the licences issued in the past. Airtel had filed a petition with 
the Hon’ble High Court of Bombay, which has directed DOT not to take any coercive 
action until the next date of hearing. The matter is currently pending with the Hon’ble 
High Court of Bombay.  

 
On 4 July 2019, the Telecom Disputes Settlement and Appellate Tribunal in a similar 
matter of another unrelated telecom service provider, passed an order providing partial 
relief and confirming the basis for the balance of the one time spectrum charge. The 
said telecom service provider filed an appeal in the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India 
which was dismissed on 16 March 2020. With the ruling, Airtel Group has assessed 
and provided Rs. 18.08 billion (S$284 million) of the principal demand as well as the 
related interest. Notwithstanding this, Airtel Group intends to continue to pursue its legal 
remedies. 

 
Other taxes, custom duties and demands under adjudication, appeal or disputes and 
related interest for some disputes as at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately Rs. 
172.7 billion (S$2.71 billion). In respect of some of the tax issues, pending final 
decisions, Airtel had deposited amounts with statutory authorities. 
 

 
(b) Advanced Info Service Public Company Limited (“AIS”) 
 

AIS, a joint venture of the Group, has various commercial disputes and significant 
litigations which are pending adjudication.  

    
National Telecom Public Company Limited (“NT”) has demanded that AIS pay the 
following: 

 
(i) additional charges for porting of subscribers from 900MHz to 2100MHz network 

of THB 41.1 billion (S$1.62 billion) plus interest. In September 2023, the 
Central Administrative Court (“CAC”) supported the arbitration award which 
was in favor of AIS. In October 2023, NT appealed to the Supreme 
Administrative Court (“SAC”). 
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20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES OF ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 

 
(ii) additional revenue share of THB 62.8 billion (S$2.48 billion) arising from what 

NT claims to be an illegality of two amendments made to the Concession 
Agreement, namely, Amendment 6 (regarding reduction in prepaid revenue 
share rate) made in 2001 and Amendment 7 (regarding deduction of roaming 
expense from revenue share) made in 2002, which have resulted in lower 
revenue share. In January 2020, AIS received the award from the Arbitral 
Tribunal (“AT”) to pay THB 31.1 billion (S$1.23 billion) and 1.25% interest per 
month after 30 November 2015. In April 2020, AIS filed a motion to the CAC to 
set aside the award which was followed by NT’s appeal to the CAC to increase 
the award to THB 62.8 billion (S$2.48 billion). In July 2022, the CAC revoked 
the AT’s resolution and AIS is not required to pay the additional revenue share 
of THB 62.8 billion (S$2.48 billion). In August 2022, NT appealed to the SAC.  

 
As at 31 March 2025, other claims against AIS and its subsidiaries which are pending 
adjudication amounted to THB 10.6 billion (S$420 million).  

  
The above claims have not included potential interest and penalty. 
 
AIS believes that the above claims will be settled in favour of AIS and will have no 
material impact to its financial statements. 
 
 

(c) Globe Telecom, Inc. (“Globe”) 
 

Globe, a joint venture of the Group, is contingently liable for various claims arising in 
the ordinary conduct of business and certain tax assessments which are either pending 
decision by the Courts or are being contested, the outcome of which are not presently 
determinable. In the opinion of Globe’s management and legal counsel, the eventual 
liability under these claims, if any, will not have a material or adverse effect on Globe’s 
financial position and results of operations. 
 
In June 2016, the Philippine Competition Commission (“PCC”) claimed that the Joint 
Notice of Acquisition filed by Globe, PLDT Inc. (“PLDT”) and San Miguel Corporation 
(“SMC”) on the acquisition of SMC’s telecommunications business was deficient and 
cannot be claimed to be deemed approved. In July 2016, Globe filed a petition with the 
Court of Appeals of the Philippines (“CA”) to stop the PCC from reviewing the 
acquisition. In October 2017, the CA ruled in favour of Globe and PLDT, and declared 
the acquisition as valid and deemed approved. PCC subsequently elevated the case 
to the Supreme Court to review the CA’s rulings. 
 

 
(d) PT Telekomunikasi Selular (“Telkomsel”) 
 

As at 31 March 2025, Telkomsel, a joint venture of the Group, has filed appeals and 
cross-appeals amounting to approximately IDR 374 billion (S$30 million) for various 
tax claims arising in certain tax assessments which are pending final decisions, the 
outcome of which is not presently determinable. 
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION  
 

Segment information is presented based on the information reviewed by senior management 
for performance measurement and resource allocation. 
 
Optus offers mobile, equipment sales, fixed voice and data, satellite, ICT and managed services 
in Australia. 

 
Singtel Singapore offers mobile, fixed voice and data, pay television, content and digital 
services, ICT as well as equipment sales. 

 
NCS provides differentiated and end-to-end technology services via its Gov+, Enterprise and 
Telco+ groups. 

 
Digital InfraCo provides regional data centre services under Nxera1, satellite carrier services, 
as well as offers Paragon, Singtel’s all-in-one digital acceleration platform for 5G multi-access 
edge compute (MEC) and cloud orchestration as well as AI Cloud Service through RE:AI2.  

 
Corporate comprises the costs of Group functions not allocated to the business segments. It 
also includes the Group’s regional investments in AIS and Intouch (which has an equity interest 
of 40.4% in AIS in Thailand), Airtel in India and Africa, Globe in the Philippines, and Telkomsel 
in Indonesia. 

  
 The segment results are before exceptional items, in line with the basis of information presented 

to management for internal management reporting purposes.  
 

 The costs of shared and common infrastructure are allocated to the business segments using 
established methodologies.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 Nxera is the brand name for Singtel’s data centre business. 
2 RE:AI is the brand name for Singtel’s Artificial Intelligence-as-a-Service business. 
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)  
  

Singtel Digital Intercompany Group 

Group - 31 Mar 25 Optus Singapore NCS InfraCo Corporate Eliminations Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Operating revenue 7,134.1           3,808.5           2,978.7           434.4              -                    (209.6)             14,146.1         

Operating expenses (5,314.7)          (2,429.1)          (2,655.8)          (234.2)             (159.3)             204.2              (10,588.9)        
Other income/(expense) 120.0              98.5                8.3                  11.4                11.3                (14.8)               234.7              

Earnings before interest, tax,  
  depreciation and amortisation 
  ("EBITDA") 1,939.4           1,477.9           331.2              211.6              (148.0)             (20.2)               3,791.9           

Share of pre-tax results of 
  associates and joint ventures 
- Airtel -                    -                    -                    -                    991.3              -                    991.3              
- Telkomsel -                    -                    -                    -                    671.6              -                    671.6              
- Globe -                    -                    -                    -                    269.4              -                    269.4              
- AIS -                    -                    -                    -                    411.1              -                    411.1              
- Intouch -                    -                    -                    -                    150.3              -                    150.3              
- Others * -                    -                    (1.0)                 6.2                  -                    5.2                  

* -                    -                    (1.0)                 2,499.9           -                    2,498.9           
EBITDA and share of pre-tax results 
  of associates and joint ventures 1,939.4           1,477.9           331.2              210.6              2,351.9           (20.2)               6,290.8           

Depreciation and amortisation (1,550.4)          (645.1)             (77.4)               (146.4)             (9.9)                 18.6                (2,410.6)          

Earnings before interest and tax 
  ("EBIT") 389.0              832.8              253.8              64.2                2,342.0           (1.6)                 3,880.2            

 
“*” denotes less than +/- S$0.05 million.  
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)  
 

Singtel Digital Intercompany Group 
Group - 31 Mar 25 Optus Singapore NCS InfraCo Corporate Eliminations Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Segment assets 
Investment in associates and 
  joint ventures 
- Airtel -                    -                    -                    -                    5,317.0           -                    5,317.0           
- Telkomsel -                    -                    -                    -                    3,477.5           -                    3,477.5           
- Globe -                    -                    -                    -                    1,822.8           -                    1,822.8           
- AIS -                    -                    -                    -                    1,104.7           -                    1,104.7           
- Intouch -                    -                    -                    -                    1,464.3           -                    1,464.3           
- Others 17.7                -                    -                    92.3                643.3              -                    753.3              

17.7                -                    -                    92.3                13,829.6         -                    13,939.6         

Goodwill on acquisition
   of subsidiaries 5,857.3           -                    543.0              -                    -                    -                    6,400.3           
Other assets 14,510.7         5,033.3           1,760.5           1,383.3           4,074.1           (318.5)             26,443.4         

20,385.7         5,033.3           2,303.5           1,475.6           17,903.7         (318.5)             46,783.3          
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)  

 
Singtel Digital Intercompany Group 

Group - 31 Mar 24 Optus Singapore NCS InfraCo Trustwave (1) Corporate Eliminations Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Operating revenue 7,130.7           3,891.4           2,834.7           413.3              76.6                -                    (219.2)             14,127.5         

Operating expenses (5,391.3)          (2,527.3)          (2,572.6)          (197.5)             (127.7)             (162.0)             228.5              (10,749.9)        
Other income/(expense) 121.9              86.9                3.9                  2.9                  2.6                  11.7                (10.6)               219.3              

EBITDA 1,861.3           1,451.0           266.0              218.7              (48.5)               (150.3)             (1.3)                 3,596.9           

Share of pre-tax results of 
  associates and joint ventures 
- Airtel -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    754.8              -                    754.8              
- Telkomsel -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    805.8              -                    805.8              
- Globe -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    287.2              -                    287.2              
- AIS -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    338.8              -                    338.8              
- Intouch -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    147.1              -                    147.1              
- Others * -                    -                    (0.6)                 -                    5.0                  -                    4.4                  

* -                    -                    (0.6)                 -                    2,338.7           -                    2,338.1           
EBITDA and share of pre-tax results 
  of associates and joint ventures 1,861.3           1,451.0           266.0              218.1              (48.5)               2,188.4           (1.3)                 5,935.0           

Depreciation and amortisation (1,605.9)          (613.1)             (82.7)               (146.6)             (7.3)                 (39.9)               51.5                (2,444.0)          

EBIT 255.4              837.9              183.3              71.5                (55.8)               2,148.5           50.2                3,491.0            
 
“*” denotes less than +/- S$0.05 million.  
 
Note: 
(1) In January 2024, the Group sold its 100% equity stake in Trustwave. 
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)  

 
Singtel Digital Intercompany Group 

Group - 31 Mar 24 Optus Singapore NCS InfraCo Corporate Eliminations Total 
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil S$ Mil

Segment assets 
Investment in associates and 
  joint ventures 
- Airtel -                    -                    -                    -                    4,029.5           -                    4,029.5           
- Telkomsel -                    -                    -                    -                    3,587.4           -                    3,587.4           
- Globe -                    -                    -                    -                    1,787.4           -                    1,787.4           
- AIS -                    -                    -                    -                    987.6              -                    987.6              
- Intouch -                    -                    -                    -                    1,743.3           -                    1,743.3           
- Others 18.4                -                    -                    26.6                577.7              -                    622.7              

18.4                -                    -                    26.6                12,712.9         -                    12,757.9         

Goodwill on acquisition
   of subsidiaries 5,868.4           -                    543.0              -                    -                    -                    6,411.4           
Other assets 13,674.3         4,604.7           1,723.0           860.6              6,398.2           (231.6)             27,029.2         

19,561.1         4,604.7           2,266.0           887.2              19,111.1         (231.6)             46,198.5          
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
21. GROUP SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)  
 

A reconciliation of the total reportable segments’ EBIT to the Group’s profit before tax was as 
follows - 
 

Group 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

EBIT 3,880.2       3,491.0        

  Exceptional items 984.9          (1,250.3)      
  Share of exceptional items of associates and joint ventures (post-tax) 816.8          (319.7)          
  Share of tax of associates and joint ventures (746.1)         (656.9)          

Profit before interest, investment income (net) and tax 4,935.8       1,264.1        
  Interest and investment income (net) 102.9          141.3           
  Finance costs (445.4)         (444.2)          

Profit before tax 4,593.3       961.2            
 

  
 The Group’s revenue from its major products and services are as follows -  
  

Group 31 Mar 25 31 Mar 24
(Audited) S$ Mil S$ Mil

  Mobile service 4,887.1          4,787.0          
  Sale of equipment 1,915.9          1,899.7          
Mobile 6,803.0          6,686.7          
Infocomm Technology 3,845.5          3,774.0          
Data and internet 2,903.3          3,008.7          
Fixed voice 309.5             331.7             
Pay television 188.1             199.1             
Others 96.7               127.3             

Operating revenue 14,146.1        14,127.5         
 
The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from Singapore and Australia which respectively 
accounted for approximately 46% (31 March 2024: 45%) and 52% (31 March 2024: 52%) of the 
consolidated revenue for the financial year ended 31 March 2025, with the remaining 2% (31 
March 2024: 3%) from other countries where the Group operates in. The geographical information 
on the Group’s non-current assets is not presented as it is not used for segmental reporting 
purposes. 
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SELECTED NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the second half year and financial year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
22. SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS 
 
 There is no significant seasonality in the Group’s operations. 
 
 
23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this condensed consolidated interim financial statements, the 
Group has no new significant related party transactions during the second half year and financial 
year ended 31 March 2025. 
 
 

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

(a) On 1 April 2025, Intouch merged with Gulf Energy Development Public Company Limited to 
form Gulf Development Public Company Limited (“Gulf”), of which Singtel holds an equity 
stake of 7.7%. Following this merger, Singtel will recognise an exceptional gain of S$746 
million and Gulf will be classified as a “Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income” 
investment. 

 
(b) On 16 May 2025, Singtel sold 1.2% of its direct stake in Airtel for S$2.0 billion via a private 

placement. The disposal will result in an estimated exceptional gain of S$1.4 billion. 
 
(c) On 21 May 2025, the Singtel’s Board authorised a value realisation share buyback 

programme of up to S$2.0 billion, to be funded by excess capital from asset recycling 
proceeds. Under this programme, shares will be purchased in the open market and 
subsequently cancelled. The timing and execution of the buybacks will be at management’s 
discretion and subject to market conditions. The programme will be implemented over the 
next three years until the financial year ending 31 March 2028.  

 
 
25. The statements of financial position as at 31 March 2025 and the related consolidated income 

statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 presented in this announcement have 
been audited in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  
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OTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LISTING RULE APPENDIX 7.2 
 
The disclosures below have not been audited or reviewed by the Company’s auditors. 
 
26. REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP 

 
Please refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group for the second half and 
financial year ended 31 March 2025.  
 
 

27. WHERE A FORECAST, OR A PROSPECT STATEMENT, HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY 

DISCLOSED TO SHAREHOLDERS, ANY VARIANCE BETWEEN IT AND THE ACTUAL 

RESULTS. 
 

Please refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group for the second half and 
financial year ended 31 March 2025. 

 
 
28. A COMMENTARY AT THE DATE OF THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE SIGNIFICANT TRENDS 

AND COMPETITIVE CONDITIONS OF THE INDUSTRY IN WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES 

AND ANY KNOWN FACTORS OR EVENTS THAT MAY AFFECT THE GROUP IN THE NEXT 

OPERATING PERIOD AND THE NEXT 12 MONTHS. 
 

Please refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis of the Group for the second half and 
financial year ended 31 March 2025. 

 
 
29. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS  
  

The Group has not obtained a general mandate from shareholders of the Company for Interested 
Person Transactions. 
 
 

30. DISCLOSURE OF PERSON OCCUPYING A MANAGERIAL POSITION IN THE ISSUER OR 
ANY OF ITS PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES WHO IS A RELATIVE OF A DIRECTOR OR CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER OF THE ISSUER. 

 
Pursuant to Rule 704(13) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Company confirms that, to the best of its knowledge, belief and 
information, none of the persons occupying managerial positions in the Company or any of its 
principal subsidiaries is a relative of a director or the chief executive officer or substantial 
shareholder of the Company. 
 
 

31. CONFIRMATION THAT THE ISSUER HAS PROCURED UNDERTAKINGS FROM ALL ITS 
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS (IN THE FORMAT SET OUT IN APPENDIX 7.7) 
UNDER RULE 720(1) 

 
The Company has received undertakings from all its directors and executive officers in the format 
as set out in Appendix 7.7 under Rule 720(1) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



SINGAPORE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES      40 

 
The auditors’ report on the full financial statements (separately prepared and not included in this filing) 
of Singapore Telecommunications Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: 
 
 

“Independent auditors’ report 
 
Members of Singapore Telecommunications Limited 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Telecommunications Limited (‘the Company’) and 
its subsidiaries (‘the Group’), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group 
and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2025 and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group, and the statement of changes in equity of 
the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
material accounting policy information, as set out on pages 17 to 118. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (‘the Act’) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (‘SFRS(I)s’) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2025 and of the consolidated financial 
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group and the changes 
in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (‘SSAs’).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements’ section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (‘ACRA Code’) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Revenue recognition  
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
 
The Group’s Mobile Service, Sale of Equipment 
and Data and Internet revenue streams are key 
audit matters as there is an elevated inherent risk 
around the accuracy of amounts recorded as 
revenue due to: 
 
 the complexity of Information Technology (IT) 

systems used in billing and the large volume 
of data processed; 

 impact of changing pricing models and the 
introduction of new products and tariff 
arrangements; and 

 different revenue recognition policies for 
rendering of services (over time) and sale of 
goods (point in time).   
 

For the Group’s Operating Revenue stream 
Infocomm Technology (“ICT”), there is a 
significant inherent risk associated with estimates 
made by the Group in recognition and 
measurement of revenue from certain long-term 
contracts. These ICT contract revenue streams 
are key audit matters as estimates are required in 
determining the budgeted cost and cost to 
complete to measure the revenue to be 
recognised. 
 
The accounting policies for revenue recognition, 
contract assets and contract liabilities are set out 
in Notes 2.23, 2.4 and 2.7 to the financial 
statements respectively and the various revenue 
streams for the Group have been disclosed in 
Note 4 to the financial statements.  

 
Our audit approach included controls testing as well 
as substantive procedures. Our procedures 
included: 

 
• We obtained an understanding of the nature of 

the various revenue streams and the related 
billing and revenue recording processes, 
systems and controls. 

• IT systems: Involving our IT specialists, we 
tested the design and implementation, and the 
operating effectiveness of automated controls 
over the capture of data within IT systems used 
in billing, interfaces between relevant IT 
applications used in billing, measurement and 
billing of revenue, and the recording of revenue 
recognition entries in the general ledger. We also 
tested the access controls and change 
management controls over the relevant billing 
systems. 

• Manual controls: We tested the design and 
implementation, and the operating effectiveness 
of manual controls over the initiation, 
authorisation, recording, and processing of 
revenue transactions. This included testing 
process controls over authorising new price 
plans and approval of new product and tariff 
changes adjustments to the billing system. 

• We tested, on a sample basis, over time and 
point in time revenue transactions recorded 
throughout the year. This testing included 
assessing, the existence of an underlying 
arrangement with the customer; the amounts 
invoiced to customers in accordance with the 
Group’s approved pricing list; and the timing of 
revenue recognition for each revenue contract 
based on completed performance obligations 
and the Group’s revenue recognition policy. 

• For ICT contract revenue, we tested on a sample 
basis, the key terms and conditions of the 
respective customer contract and evaluated it for 
appropriate revenue recognition. We challenged 
the Group’s underlying assumptions in making 
estimates on the budgeted costs and cost to 
complete the long-term contracts. 

• We tested a sample of manual journal entries 
impacting revenue to relevant underlying 
documentation for their consistency with the 
Group’s accounting policy. 

Findings 
For the Group’s Mobile Service, Sale of Equipment and Data and Internet revenue streams, we found 
the accuracy of amounts recorded as revenue to be appropriate.  
 
For ICT contract revenue, we found the estimates made in regard to the policies for revenue recognition 
to be reasonable. 
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Impairment assessment of non-financial assets –Optus Group (“Optus”) cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”) 
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
 
The accounting for the carrying value of Optus 
CGU has a material impact on the Group due to the 
significant cumulative value of the goodwill and 
other long-lived non-financial assets. 

 
At 31 March 2025, the carrying value of Optus 
includes S$5.9 billion of goodwill.  

 
Impairment assessment of Optus CGU is a key 
audit matter given the elevated and significant 
inherent risks associated with the assumptions the 
Group applied in their impairment model to 
determine the recoverable amount of the CGU, 
including: 
 
• Forecast future cash flows. Forecasting of 

future cash flows is a judgemental process 
which requires estimation of revenue growth 
rates, and operating margins; 

• Terminal growth rate.  Movements in this rate 
have an impact on forecast cashflows; and 

• Discount rate. This is complicated in nature and 
varies according to the conditions and 
environment the CGU is subject to from time to 
time.  
 

Refer to Note 26 to the financial statements for the 
impairment assessments. 
 

 
Working with our valuation specialists, our 
procedures included: 
 
 Considering the accuracy of the valuation 

model’s methodology applied by the Group 
to the CGU to perform the annual test of 
goodwill for impairment against the 
requirements of the accounting standards.  

 Performing risk assessment procedures to 
determine the inherent risk of key 
assumptions and data that would impact the 
outcome of the impairment assessment.  

 Agreeing the cash flow forecasts used in the 
impairment model to Board approved 
forecasts and budgets. 

 Forecast future cash flows: Considering and 
challenging management’s expectations of 
the future business developments, 
comparing against past performance and 
corroborating certain revenue and margin 
information with market data. 

 Terminal growth rate: Comparing the 
terminal growth rate to published 
government data and industry peers.  

 Discount rate: Independently developing a 
discount rate range using publicly available 
market data for comparable entities, adjusted 
by risk factors specific to the CGU, Group 
and the industry it operates in. 

 Performing a cross-check of the implied 
value of the CGU against comparable 
entities. 

Findings 
We found the key estimates and assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount to be 
appropriate. 
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Share of joint ventures’ reported contingent liabilities and provision for losses relating to 
regulatory litigations  
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
 
A number of the Group’s significant joint ventures 
have several on-going disputes and litigations with 
their local regulators. The Group may be exposed 
to significant losses as a result of the unfavourable 
outcome of such disputes. 
 
This is a key audit matter as significant judgement 
is required in assessing the likelihood of the 
outcome of each matter and whether the risk of 
loss is remote, possible or probable and whether 
the matter is considered a contingent liability to be 
disclosed. Where the risk of loss is probable, 
management is required to estimate the provision 
amount based on the expected economic outflow 
resulting from the disputes and litigations. 
 
Please refer to Note 43 to the financial statements 
for ‘Significant Contingent Liabilities of Associates 
and Joint Ventures’. 
 

 
Our audit procedures included: 
 
 Inquiring with Group and joint venture 

management and where considered 
appropriate, internal legal counsel of the 
Group and joint ventures to understand the 
process and internal controls relating to the 
identification and assessment of the disputes 
and litigations, and recognition of the related 
liabilities, where appropriate. 

 Reviewing the audit working papers of the 
auditors of the joint ventures (‘Component 
Auditors’), in particular, their assessment on 
the regulatory litigations and disputes that 
may have a material impact to the financial 
statements. 

 Discussing with the Component Auditors on 
their evaluation of the probability and 
magnitude of losses relating to the disputes 
and litigations, and their conclusions reached 
in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 Assessing the appropriateness of 
disclosures in the financial statements in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
accounting standards. 

 
Findings 
We found management’s assessment of the regulatory litigations and disputes to be reasonable, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities to be appropriate.   
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Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report.  Other information is 
defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon.  
 
We had obtained the Directors’ statement and Supplementary Climate-related Financial Disclosures prior 
to the date of this auditors’ report. The remaining other information are expected to be made available to 
us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
When we read the other information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in 
accordance with SSAs. 
 
Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
controls. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
 Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations preclude public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by 
those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Mr Malcolm Ramsay. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KPMG LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Singapore 
21 May 2025” 
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The following presentation contains forward-looking statements by the management of Singapore 

Telecommunications Limited ("Singtel"), relating to financial trends for future periods, compared to the results for 

previous periods. Some of the statements contained in this presentation that are not historical facts are 

statements of future expectations with respect to the financial conditions, results of operations and businesses, 

and related plans and objectives. Forward-looking information is based on management's current views and 

assumptions including, but not limited to, prevailing economic and market conditions. These statements involve 

and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties, some of which are outside Singtel’s control, that 

could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those in the statements as originally 

made. Such statements are not, and should not be construed as a representation as to future performance of 

Singtel. No reliance should therefore be placed on these forward-looking statements, which are based on the 

current view of the management of Singtel on future events. The presentation is also not to be relied upon as 

advice to investors or potential investors and does not take into account the investment objectives, financial 

situation or needs of any particular investor. 

“S$” means Singapore dollars and "A$" means Australian dollars. Any discrepancies between individual amounts 

and totals are due to rounding.

Forward looking statement – Important note
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1. Comprising 12.3cts core & 4.7cts value realisation dividend (VRD).

2. On constant currency terms. 

SG

Positioning for 

strong DC demand

Sustained value 
realisation

Underpin higher returns

Underlying NPAT

Strong EBIT growth

+55% +39%

Cost optimisation

~$250M

Scaling up

savings

Asset recycling proceeds

17cts1

+13%

+9% (+11%2)

EBIT (ex assoc)

+20%
driven by Optus & NCS

Regional Assoc PAT

+7%2

FY25 achievements

Lift business performance

Active capital management

S$1.9B
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Enhancing shareholder value through capital 

management

Core dividend

12.3cts

Value Realisation 
Dividend (VRD)

4.7cts

Value Realisation 
Share Buyback (VRSB)

Up to S$2B
Over the course of 

3 years till FY28

Total dividend of 17cts
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FY25 business highlights

Prepaid subs largely

driven by amaysim 

Network sharing goes 

‘live’

Champion people 
& sustainability

Extended Global Delivery 

Network via JV with Globe

Reduction in GHG 

emissions Scope 1&2

Launched Responsible 

Procurement Policy
DC Tuas in SG

SG

New growth Mobile growth Expansion

Branded 

Postpaid ARPU

+3.4%2

1. IoT: Internet of Things; CPaaS: Communications Platform-as-a-Service.
2. Excludes Wholesale MVNOs.

~50%

~14%

Received the President’s 

Volunteerism & Philanthropy 

Awards4

Rated with highest 

all-rounder score by 

Analysys Mason

Industry-leading Cyber 

Quantum Safe Solutions

+40% +5.0%3 ~80%
Thai DC

presold capacity

Enterprise revenue growth in 
IoT1 and CPaaS1

3.     Excluding transfer of Circles.Life’s customers to amaysim.
4.     Under Organisations of Good (Large Enterprise) category.

Unified, AI-enabled self-serve 

Enterprise portal driving key 

strategic wins
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FY25 financial highlights

Stable (Stable1)

S$14.1B
▲ 5% (▲ 6%1)

S$3.8B
▲ 20% (▲ 20%1)

S$1.4B

▲ 4% (▲ 7%1)

S$1.8B
▲ 9% (▲ 11%1)

S$2.5B
▲ 405%3 (▲ 412%1)

Net profit

S$4.0B

Ex Trustwave1 ▲1% Ex Trustwave1 ▲ 5% Ex Trustwave1 ▲ 15% 

(basis for core dividend payout)

1. On constant currency basis.

2. Underlying ROIC excluding exceptional items is 9.8%.

Operating revenue EBITDA EBIT 
(ex assoc contribution)

Regional 
associates’ PAT

Underlying net profit

ROIC 7.3% (FY22) 8.3% (FY23) 9.3% (FY24) 9.6%2
 (FY25)

3. Including Comcentre divestment gain of S$1.3B in FY25, compared to exceptional gain of S$2B from Tsel 
dilution & Airtel partial stake sale as well as non-cash impairment charges of S$3B in FY24.
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Broad-based growth1 from key businesses

167

72

77

-99

13,884

FY24

14,173

FY25

14,128

14,146

Satellite project-based deployment revenue

Trustwave

Impact of forex fluctuations

NCS: Fuelled by Gov+

Nxera: Driven by price uplifts, 

reservation fees & utility pass-

through

Optus: Mobile service growth

Revenue (S$M)

+2%

FY25 revenue growth

1. Excluding Trustwave & satellite project-based deployment revenue.
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Strong Optus performance

A$8,177M

▪ Mobile service revenue increased 4% on postpaid 

repricing

▪ EBITDA up 6% & EBIT rose 55%

o Improved mobile performance

o Cost management

A$446M
YoY ▲ 55%

SG

▪ Mobile service revenue flat; roaming & IoT offset 

by legacy decline

▪ EBITDA up 2% & stable EBIT

o SME & ICT growth; cost-out 

o Offset by higher amortisation from 

acquisition of 700Mhz spectrum

S$3,808M S$833M
YoY StableYoY ▼ 2%

Revenue EBIT Revenue EBIT

YoY ▲ 1%
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Continued solid NCS growth

S$2,979M
YoY ▲ 5%

▪ Revenue uplift supported by Gov+

▪ Higher margins driven by improved delivery 

margin & cost optimisation

▪ Robust bookings of S$3.2B in FY25, up 5%

S$254M
YoY ▲ 39%

▪ Revenue growth underpinned by Nxera’s 

customer reservation fee & utilities pass through

▪ EBIT impacted by lower project-based satellite 

revenue & investment in Enterprise Platforms & 

RE:AI

S$434M S$65M
YoY ▼ 9%YoY ▲ 5%

Revenue EBIT Revenue EBIT

Digital InfraCo

Nxera ▲ 9% Nxera ▲ 12%
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Regional associates' higher PAT driven by TH & IN

S$M

117

466
703

222

221
395

455

628

545

-144 -237

FY24

68

FY25

Telkomsel

AIS & Intouch

Globe

Airtel
(India)

Airtel (Africa
 & South Asia)

Airtel (BTL)

1,685

1,756

▲ 4% (▲ 7%1)

S$46M adverse 

impact from 

stronger SGD

▼ 13% (▼ 9%1)

Stable (▲ 3%1)

1. On constant currency basis.

▲ 51% (▲ 55%1)

▲ 15% (▲ 14%1)

▪ Telkomsel: Continued mobile competition, 
mitigated by FBB growth

▪ AIS: Strong mobile & FBB growth momentum driven 
by economic recovery & ARPU uplift

▪ Globe: Controlled cost & improved Mynt, offset by 
higher depreciation & interest

▪ Airtel: Market repair led by mobile price increase 
effective Jul 2024

o Airtel India PAT up 55%1

o Partially offset by higher BTL cost (interest & 
dividend tax)

▲ 4% (▲ 7%1)

S$1,756M

▼ 42% (▼ 41%1)

Regional associates’ PAT
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Robust balance sheet

S$9.4B
(Mar 24: S$7.8B)

Strong cash flows from multiple sources

Net debt

1.5x
(Mar 24: 1.3x)

Net debt to 
EBITDA & 
assoc PBT

18.1x
(Mar 24: 17.8x)

Interest 
cover

88%
(Mar 24: 88%)

Fixed rate 
debt

1,085

1,095

663

973

569

324

160FY25

176FY24

Optus FCFSG FCFAssoc div

4,330

3,939

+10%

Intouch special
dividend

S$M

▪ Solid financial position

o Cash balance of S$2.8B2

o Debt is largely hedged into 
fixed rates

o Average cost of debt: ~3.5% 

o Average total debt maturity: 
~4 years

▪ Higher net debt mainly due to 
spectrum payments by Optus & 
ST SG

▪ Limited exposure to US$

o All foreign currency 
borrowings hedged into 

functional currencies

▪ FCF was impacted by higher capex 
in SG & one-off S$0.2B tax payment

1. FCF: Cash flow from operating activities, including dividends from associates, less cash capital expenditure.
2. Comprised cash & bank balances & fixed deposits as at 31 Mar 2025.

Tsel special 
dividend

Asset recycling 
proceeds

S$1.9B of cash recycledFCF1
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FY26 priorities
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Successfully delivered FY25 guidance

1. Based on average exchange rate of A$1: S$0.8845.
2. Gross savings before impact of inflation.

EBIT growth rate
(Ex assoc contributions)

High-teens to 

low 20s1 20%

Annual cost savings2

(FY24-26 for Singtel SG & Optus)
S$0.2B1 On track

Regional Associates’ 

dividend
S$1.3B S$1.3B

Capex S$2.8B S$2.4B

FY25 total ordinary dividend of 17cts, above ~16.5cts guidance
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Focus for FY26

SG

Digital InfraCo

▪ Scale Enterprise business

▪ Strengthen mobile & FBB

▪ Focus on telco APIs, quantum-safe 

network & 5G slicing 

▪ Reinvigorate brand trust & fortify core

▪ Focus on customer value

▪ Simplification & efficiency

▪ Strengthen margins

▪ Continue focus on 3-axis strategy

▪ Gear up for growth in AU

▪ Nxera: Turning on DC Tuas in Jan 2026 

& TH DC in Jun 2025

▪ RE:AI: Forge National Sovereign AI 

partnerships, grow AI ecosystem

▪ Scale Paragon beyond Asian telcos

▪ Growing fixed broadband 

& enterprise

▪ Focus on cost optimisation 

& simplification

Regional Associates
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Continued cost efficiency

2/3rd of target achieved:

Cumulative savings ~S$400M

FY23 FY24:
~S$150M

FY25:
~S$250M

Cost out target:  

S$600M1

Operational efficiency

• Product & portfolio simplification

• Workforce optimisation; streamlined structure

• Network & IT cost rationalisation

Corporate cost reduction

• Procurement & third-party spend optimisation

• Holistic shared service efficiencies

AI, digitalisation & automation

• AI chatbots & virtual assistants

• Improved self-service capabilities

FY26 cost out 

initiatives
Cost out initiatives launched

• Further simplification of 

products

• System & process 

efficiencies

• Continued procurement 

optimisation

FY26

1. Gross savings before impact of inflation.
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FY26 guidance

1. Based on average exchange rate during FY2025 of A$1: S$0.8725.
2. Gross savings before impact of inflation.

EBIT growth rate
(Ex assoc contributions)

High single digits1

Annual Cost savings2

(Singtel SG & Optus)
S$0.2B

Regional Associates’ dividend S$1.0B3,4

Capex S$2.5B

Reiterating our low double-digit ROIC target in the mid-term

3.      Intouch ceased to be an associate on 1 April 2025. Singtel received S$0.3B in dividend from Intouch in FY25.
4.      Dividends from Gulf Development are excluded and will be reported separately.
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Capex outlook

1. A$1.4B in FY25 actual & A$1.3B in FY26F.
2. Rest of Singtel Group.

0.6 0.5 0.6

1.0

0.7 0.8

1.21

FY25 guidance

1.21

FY25 actual

1.11

FY26 outlook

2.8

2.4
2.5

Core capex Growth capex

3. Fully funded by external capital partners and advance satellite receipts from customers.

FY26 core capex

FY26 growth capex

▪ Optus: Rebalancing of capex, broadly 

in line with prior year

▪ ST SG: Capex on network & subsea 

cables expected to increase

▪ Scaling up Nxera’s regional DC3 & 

satellites

▪ Investments in AI

S$0.6B 
fully funded

(AU)

(ST2)

(AU)

(ST2)(ST2)

(AU)

S$B 
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Active capital 

management: 

From assets to advantage

Arthur Lang, Group CFO
22 May 2025
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5.1 4.5 4.6 5.2 5.6

2.4
4.8 5.3

6.0
6.7

FY21 FY22 FY231 FY24 FY25

7.5

9.3 9.9

15.0

17.0

Strategic reset

Ordinary Dividends declared (S cts)

Singtel28

(▲13%)

Final Interim

VRD

Core

VRD
3.8

Committed to long-term dividend growth

3-year annualised TSR2: 13% 

vs STI 9% vs MSCI Asia (ex Japan) 

Telco Index 3%

1. Excludes 5cts/share special dividend declared in FY23.
2. Total Shareholder Return from FY23-25.

FY25 total ordinary dividend of 17cts, above ~16.5cts guidance

Core payout ratio at 82% of 

FY25 underlying NPAT

FY25 total ordinary dividend: 

17cts (12.3cts core & 4.7cts VRD)

Core

1.4

VRD 

4.7cts

Core 

dividend 

12.3cts

3.3
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Stepping up on capital management to drive returns

1.9

2.0

2.1

Target set in 2024 
for asset recycling 

in mid-term1

New target for asset 
recycling in mid-term1

~6.0

~9.0
S$B

FY25 cash proceeds 

from recycling

Raising pipeline target

▪ Allocated for:

o Growth opportunities

o Possible debt pay-down

▪ Excess capital to be returned to 

shareholders:

o VRD (3-6cts/share annually)

o Share buyback (up to S$2B over 3 years)

1. Next 3 to 4 years.

May 25: Divestment of 

1.2% stake in Airtel 
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Delivering sustained value creation for shareholders

Underscores our commitment to Singtel28 strategy;

Reflects management’s confidence in the Group’s long-term value

Over the course of

3 years

▪ Shares bought back will be cancelled; 

purchases subject to market conditions

▪ Over & above existing dividend1 policy 

& periodic share buybacks for 

employee share plans

Lift EPS & DPS on sustained basis; 

drive long-term returns on capital

Value Realisation 
Share Buyback programme

Up to S$2B

1. Including Value Realisation Dividend.

Funding from excess capital

Till FY28
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Sustainable returns reflect improving core business & 

continued capital management

Core dividend

Between 

70% - 90% of 

underlying NPAT

3-6cts per 

share annually in 

the medium term

Programmatic 

VRD

3-year 

programme of 

up to S$2B

Value Realisation 

Share Buyback 

(VRSB)

NEW

3-pronged approach to deliver higher returns

Reaffirmed Reaffirmed
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Reinforcing ST28 strategy

Champion people & sustainability

• Continued EBITDA & 
EBIT growth

• Further scaling up 
growth engines

• New operating model 
& investments in 
innovation

Active capital 
management

• Focus on capital 
recycling

• Value creation & 
unlocking

• Dividend policy (core 

plus VRD), enhanced 
with inaugural Value 
Realisation Share 
Buyback programme

Sustained value 

realisation

Dividend + Growth

Lift business 
performance
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Anchored in stability amidst global market volatility

Resilient cash flows
• Stable & diversified cash generation; no direct impact from tariff war 

• Disciplined capex

• Cost efficiencies

Healthy balance sheet
• All foreign currency debts are fully hedged

• Well-positioned for a benign interest rate environment

Commitment to grow dividends on a sustainable basis
• Robust asset recycling pipeline reinforces the Group’s flexibility to support higher returns

• Value Realisation Share Buyback programme, over & above existing dividend policy, to 
enhance sustained shareholder returns

Multiple growth drivers
• Optus building on positive momentum; Singtel SG’s Enterprise expanding internationally

• NCS seeing growth in delivery margins

• Nxera expected to increase DC capacity by end-FY26
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